
 

Neuadd Cyngor Ceredigion, Penmorfa, 
Aberaeron, Ceredigion SA46 0PA 

ceredigion.gov.uk 
 

 

1 
 

14/03/24 
 
 
 
 

Dear Sir / Madam 
 
I write to inform you that a Meeting of the Licensing Committee – Taxis and other 
matters (non-statutory) will be held HYBRID - NEUADD CYNGOR CEREDIGION, 
PENMORFA, ABERAERON / REMOTELY VIA VIDEO CONFERENCE on Thursday, 
21 March 2024 at 2.15 pm for the transaction of the following business: 
  
1.   Apologies  

  
2.   Disclosure of personal / prejudicial interests  

  
3.   Confirm the Minutes of the Meeting held on 05 October 2023 and 

consider any matters arising from the Minutes (Pages 3 - 4) 
  

4.   General Update (Pages 5 - 16) 
  

5.   General Update - anticipated introduction of a mandatory licensing 
scheme of 'special procedures' in Wales. (Pages 17 - 20) 
 

 
 

Members are reminded to sign the Attendance Register 
 

A Translation Services will be provided at this meeting and those present are 
welcome to speak in Welsh or English at the meeting. 

 
 
Yours faithfully 

 
Miss Lowri Edwards 
Corporate Lead Officer: Democratic Services 
 
To:  Chairman and Members of Licensing Committee – Taxis and other 
matters (non-statutory) 
 The remaining Members of the Council for information only. 

Public Document Pack

http://www.ceredigion.gov.uk/


This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 
 

Minutes of the Meeting of LICENSING COMMITTEE – TAXIS AND OTHER MATTERS 
(NON-STATUTORY) 

held Hybrid - Neuadd Cyngor Ceredigion, Penmorfa, Aberaeron / 
remotely via video conference on Thursday, 05 October 2023 

  
 
PRESENT;  Councillor Paul Hinge (Chair), Councillors Amanda Edwards, 
Endaf Edwards ,Eryl Evans, Keith Evans, Gwyn James, Ann Bowen Morgan 
and John Roberts  
 
Also in attendance: Councillor Gareth Lloyd  
 
Officers in attendance:   Mrs Carwen Evans – Corporate Manager, Public 
Protection , Policy and Performance, Miss Anne-Louise Davies, Trading 
Standards & Licensing Manager, Mr Gareth Rees – Senior Licensing Officer,  
Ms Nia Jones, Corporate Manger -Democratic Services, Mrs Dana Jones, 
Democratic and Standards Officer 
 

(10:05am-11:20am) 
 

 
1          Apologies 

Councillor Wyn Evans and Caryl Roberts apologised for their inability to 
attend the meeting.  
 

2          Declaration of personal interest/prejudicial interest 
None. 
 

3           To confirm the Minutes of the Meeting of the Licensing Committee held 
on 16 March 2023 and to consider any matters arising from those Minutes 

It was RESOLVED to confirm as a true record the minutes of the meeting of 
the Committee held on the 16 March 2023. 
 
Matters arsing 
None. 
 

4           General Update - Taxis and other matters (Non-Statutory) 
Consideration was given to the General Update report on Taxis and other 
matters (Non-Statutory). The report had been presented in order to advise 
Members of activity undertaken by the Licensing Section since the last 
Committee meeting and also advise on current work being undertaken. 

• Welsh Government White Paper - Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle 
(PHV)(Wales) Bill 

• Consultation – Statutory licensing scheme for all visitor 
accommodation providers in Wales. 

• National Licensing Week 2023 12-16 June 2023  
Government “Tell Us Once” – to include licences and permits.  

 
 
 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



 

2 
 

 
 
 
Following questions from the floor, it was AGREED  
(i) to note the report for information; and 
(ii) that the National Licensing Week 2023 12-16 June 2023  
Government “Tell Us Once” – to include licences and permits was welcomed 
to reduce bureaucracy in the system. 
 
It was also suggested by Members that the service should consider 
conducting their businesses inspections collectively, if required by any 
business in the County. It was reported that this had been done in a few 
inspections, and further consideration be given to this in the future. 
 
Confirmed at the Meeting of the Licencing Committee held on  

 
 

Chairman:   
 

Date:   

Page 4



CEREDIGION COUNTY COUNCIL 
  
Report to: Licensing Committee (Non-Statutory Committee) 
  
Date of meeting: 21 March 2024 
  
Title: General Update 
  
Purpose of the report: To update members on the work undertaken by the 

Licensing Team (and Public Protection) since the last 
committee meeting. 

    
Background 
This report is to update the committee on the work of the Licensing Team in relation to 
its other functions that sit under the non-statutory licensing committee. 
 
HACKNEY CARRIAGE AND PRIVATE HIRE LICENSING 
Since the last committee meeting (5th October 2023), twenty-three complaints have 
been received in relation to Hackney Carriage and Private Hire vehicles and drivers.  
Complaints received include allegations of overcharging/misuse of taxi meter, poor 
attitude of a Hackney Carriage and Private Hire drivers, taxi operators complaining 
about poor attitude of other licensed drivers, drivers not displaying the required operator 
signage, unlicensed vehicle being used as a hackney carriage, misleading advertising.  
The drivers/operators involved in respect to these complaints, were identified and 
spoken to by officers.  Formal warnings were issued, where appropriate. 
 
DELEGATED DECISIONS 
There have been two separate issues that have been dealt with by means of Corporate 
Lead Officer delegated decision since the last Licensing Committee.  
 

1. The CLO considered one report in relation to a Hackney Carriage/Private Hire 
dual driver licence in respect of a driver who failed to submit a medical certificate 
completed by a General Practitioner. The licence was suspended with 
immediate effect in the interests of public safety.  

 
2. The CLO considered one report in relation to a Hackney Carriage and Private 

Hire driver’s licence, following the Licensing team being made aware of 
information from the Police concerning serious allegations. The decision made 
was to revoke the licence with immediate effect in the interest of public safety. 

 
 
LICENSING PANEL HEARINGS 
There have been 3 licensing panel hearings held since the last Licensing Committee.  
These hearings are illustrated in the below table. 
 
Application Type Decision Date of Hearing and Decision 
LA03 Application Refused 10/10/2023 
Taxi Driver Refused 17/11/2023 
Taxi Driver Refused 27/2/2024 
Taxi Vehicle TBD 25/3/2024 

Page 5

Agenda Item 4



ANNUAL PERFORMANCE 
During the period 01/02/2023 – 31/01/2024 the Licensing Team has continued to 
receive and process a large number of licensing applications, renewals and transfers 
and amendments to licences. The team also investigates complaints involving the 
wide variety of licensing areas they are responsible for. In addition, the team receive 
and process a large number of Freedom of Information requests (FOI’s), which often 
requires a certain amount of research and preparation in order to provide a response.   
  
A summary of the number of licence applications and service requests is attached 
as Appendix A. 

 
INTERNAL AUDIT 
Following an audit conducted by the Council’s Internal Audit Team of taxi licensing 
procedures, the Licensing Team was advised that the Service should include 
information regarding data handling in all its policies.  To address this, the Service will 
take the following actions:  
 

• As an interim measure, the Service has published a privacy notice (see Appendix 
B) specifically relating to how we handle data when processing taxi licences 
alongside the current taxi policy on the Council’s Licensing webpages until a full 
review of the current Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Overarching 
Policy has been concluded; 
 

• For policies that do not require a full review during 2024/25, the Service will raise 
the matter at the next Licensing Committee and seek approval to make a minor 
addendum to such policies.  The licensing policies to which this point relates are 
as follows: Statement of Licensing Policy 2012-2026, Film Classification Policy, 
Policy for the Regulation of Street Collections and House to House Charitable 
Collections, and the Scrap Metal Dealers Act 2013; 

 
• In the case of policies scheduled for review during 2024/25, a data handling 

statement/notice will be incorporated into the revised policies during the review 
process.  These policies are: Statement of Gambling Policy 2022 – 2025, 
Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Overarching Policy and 
Conditions. 

 
OTHER MATTERS OF INTEREST 
 
Other Voices, Cardigan 2023 
Event Details:  The annual Other Voices event was held for the 4th time this year in 
Cardigan and was officially opened by the First Minister Mark DRAKEFORD. Other 
voices  is a renowned international music festival, that celebrates music at a global 
scale, attracting musicians of the highest calibre to perform in all kinds of intimate and 
atmospheric settings, from its home in Dingle, Ireland to musical meccas such as 
Austin, Texas. The festival is a celebration of age-old connections and deep cultural 
understandings between Wales and Ireland 

Headline music acts performed in St Mary’s Church, Cardigan on Friday 27th & 
Saturday 28th with a number of other musicians performing in venues all around the 

Page 6



town centre during the afternoon, evening and into the night on all three days as part 
of the Music Trail. 

 After a one-off registration fee of £25 per person, rising to £35, admission to all Music 
Trail venues and Clebran sessions was free. All those who registered were 
automatically entered into a draw to win much sought after tickets to the headline acts 
in St Mary’s Church and also competition prizes donated by local businesses.   

Other Voices Cardigan was staged with the support and investment of Welsh 
Government and The Department of Culture, Heritage and the Gaeltacht, and was 
produced by South Wind Blows in partnership with Theatr Mwldan and Triongl. The 
event was filmed by Triongl for later broadcast on S4C.   

There were four main strands to the Other Voices Cardigan festival: 

Music Trail - over 40 artists appeared across the three days in venues around Cardigan 
town centre (around 80 performances in total).  Entry to each venue was on a first come 
first served basis. 

Church events - eight headliners performed in St Marys church in four sessions (2 
separate sessions per night, each with 2 artists per session, on Friday and on 
Saturday). These performances were live streamed online and filmed for later 
broadcast on TV.  

Streaming – St Mary’s Church sessions were simultaneously streamed to the cinema 
screen (Mwldan 1) at Theatr Mwldan. These performances were live streamed online 
across the world, and filmed for later broadcast on TV on S4C and RTÉ. 

Clebran - a series of five talks and discussions sessions took place during the afternoon 
on Thursday (2), Friday (1) and Saturday (2) in Mwldan 2. 

MUSIC TRAIL VENUES 

Main 6 Larger Venues 

Pizza Tipi Coal Yard - Capacity 200. 

Small World Theatre - Capacity 190. 

Cardigan Castle Pavilion - Capacity 190. 

Mwldan 2 - Capacity 249. 

Mwldan 4 - Capacity 100. 

Cellar Bar - Capacity 100. 

4 Smaller Venues 

Crwst - Capacity 76 + few standing. 

Bar 45 - Capacity 50. 

Page 7



Stiwdio 3 - Capacity 90 Seated + 100 standing. 

Canfas - Capacity 40. 

Clebran: Clebran operated as a series of carefully curated talks with artists, 
broadcasters, creatives and politicians which ran alongside the event, sparking 
enriching, lively conversations about perception of the world, language and culture. 
These sessions took place in Mwldan during the daytime across the three days. 

Event planning: The event has been annually reviewed and licensing officers and the 
police licensing officer met again with the organisers before this event. During 
discussions the previous year’s event was discussed and details of security and 
stewarding arrangements were discussed. Other areas discussed were event safety 
plans, and a review of the event safety plans were carried out and checks carried out 
ensuring that the certification for new food outlets was complete and correct.  

The event was held without incident however one noise complaint was received 
following the conclusion of the festival.  

 
Recommendation(s): That Members note and comment on the 

contents of this report, and approve the 
necessity to amendment the licensing 
policies to implement the recommendations 
made by Internal Audit.  
 

Reason for recommendation To advise elected Members of activity 
undertaken by the Licensing Section since 
the last Committee meeting and other 
relevant information. 
 

Policy Framework: The statutory functions delivered by the 
Licensing Team is a fundamental element of 
Public Protection policy framework. 
 

Corporate Priorities Boosting the economy, supporting 
businesses and enabling employment 

 
Finance and procurement 
implications: 
 

Within budget 

Service Area Policy, Performance and Public Protection 
  
Statutory Powers: 
 
 

Local Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) act 1976 
 

Background Papers  None 
  
Corporate Lead Officer: Alun Williams (Policy, Performance and 

Public Protection) 
 

Page 8



Reporting Officer: Anne-Louise Davies (Trading Standards & 
Licensing Manager) and Gareth Rees (Senior 
Licensing Officer). 
 

Date: 1 March 2024 
 
 
Appendices:  A: Licensing Team workload update 
   B: Data Handling and Privacy Notice 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 9



APPENDIX A: The number of licence applications granted between 1/2/23 – 31/1/24 
 

Types of Licences 1/2/23 – 31/1/24 Previous Yr 
Taxi / Private Hire Vehicle  152 138  

Dual Driver  50 76  

Private Hire Operator  7 4  

Animal Boarding  7 8  

Home Boarding   6 7  

Dangerous Wild Animals  0 0  

Pet Shop  1 1  

Dog Breeding  25 32  

Riding Establishments  4 5  

Zoos  0 0  

Performing Animals - New  2 3  

Caravan Control & Development Act 1960 2 3 

Mobile Homes Act Applications  1 5  

Special Procedures 11 3  

Petroleum  10 6  

Explosives  5 3  

Film Classification  7 10  

Scrap Metal Dealer  5 6  

House to House Collections  9 9  

Street Collections  33 20  

New Premises Licence Applications 17 23 

Renewal of Premises Licence 388 355 

Full Variation of Premises Licence 0 3 

Minor Variations 3 2 

Transfer of Premises Licence 5 2 

Temporary Event Notices 218 277 

Personal Licences (New) 37 51 

Personal Licence change of details 21 18 

Reviews 5 3 

Vary DPS 16 22 

New Gambling Premises 2 2 

Gambling Act Renewals 10 14 

Occasional Use Notices 8 7 

Registered Lotteries 96 78 

Other Gambling permits/licences 8 5 

Number of Service Requests/Complaints 532 632 

Number of Inspections of premises/vehicles 189 62 

Total 1892 1895 
 

Page 10



APPENDIX B: Data Handling and Privacy Notice 
 
 

 
  
Service Area:   Public Protection 
 
Work Area:     Licensing 
 
Contact Details:    01545 570881 

publicprotection@ceredigion.gov.uk 
 

Privacy Notice Name:  Taxi applications in accordance with Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 & Town Police 
Clauses  
Act 1847.  

 
Description of Privacy Notice:   This privacy notice will explain how Ceredigion  

County Council will use the information you 
provide about yourself if you make an application 
for Hackney Carriage / Private Hire Driver, 
Hackney Carriage / Private Hire Vehicle or Private 
Hire Vehicle Operator licence. 

 
How we will use your information 
 
Purpose and legal basis for using your information 
 
Purpose of processing 
The information you provide is used to process your application(s) for hackney 
carriage/private hire vehicle driver’s licence, Hackney Carriage or Private Hire Vehicle 
licence and Private Hire Vehicle Operator’s licence. This information will be used to 
determine your or your vehicle’s suitability / continued suitability for the purposes of 
licensing.   
 
We also have a legal obligation to maintain public registers in accordance with above 
legislation. If relevant the following information of yours will be contained on a public 
register:  

• Name, licence number:  
• Date and period of licence granted (private hire vehicle driver’s licence only)  

 
Your information will also be used for the purposes of statutory returns, compliance 
and customer service reviews.    
 
Source and categories of personal data  

Date Created: 13/2/2024
Date Published: 13/2/2024

Version No: 1

Page 11

mailto:publicprotection@ceredigion.gov.uk


In addition to the information you provide, we may also obtain information to determine 
your or your vehicle’s suitability / continued suitability for the purposes of licensing 
from other sources such as other local authorities that you may have previously held 
a license with or the Police. 
 
Legal basis for processing 
There is a public task obligation to process your information detailed below:  

• Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976   
• Town Police Clauses Act 1847. 

 
In order for the processing of personal data to be lawful under the General Data 
Protection Regulations 2016, a valid condition from Article 6 of the Regulations must 
be identified, which is outlined below:  
 
1e. processing is necessary for the performance of a task carried out in the public 
interest or in  

the exercise of official authority vested in the controller;   
 
Data Protection legislation provides extra protection for certain classes of information 
called 'special personal data'. If any information falls within the definition of special 
personal data then an additional condition from Article 9 of the Regulations must be 
identified, as outlined below:  
 
Data Protection Act 2018 – Schedule 1 / Part 2  
6 (1)   This condition is met if the processing—   
   (a) is necessary for a purpose listed in sub-paragraph (2), and 

(b) is necessary for reasons of substantial public interest.   
(2)   Those purposes are—   

(a) the exercise of a function conferred on a person by an enactment or 
rule of law;   

(b) the exercise of a function of the Crown, a Minister of the Crown or a 
government department.   

 
Data Protection legislation also provides extra protection for personal data in relation 
to criminal convictions and offences. If any personal data falls within this category, 
then an additional condition from Article 10 of the Regulations must be identified.    
  
The condition above is both an Article 9 and Article 10 condition for processing. 
 
Who will have access to your information 
 
Identity of Data Controller and Data Protection Officer 
The Data Controller for your information is Ceredigion County Council.  
The Data Protection Officer can be contacted at: 
Data Protection Officer,  
Ceredigion County Council, 
Canolfan Rheidol,  
Aberystwyth, SY23 3UE 
Email: data.protection@ceredigion.gov.uk 
 
Other Data Controllers may also be responsible for your information, depending on 
the specific circumstances. Please contact the Service Area for further information. 

Page 12

mailto:data.protection@ceredigion.gov.uk


 
Details of main users of your information 
The main user of your information will be the Licensing and Trading Standards Team, 
who will be supported with legal advice from CCC’s Legal Services.  
 
Where applications for licences cannot be determined by officers under delegated 
powers, applications are determined by a Sub-Committee made up of elected 
members. 
 
We also have a legal obligation to maintain public registers in accordance with above 
legislation.  If relevant the following information of yours will be contained on a public 
register:  

• Name, licence number:  
• Date and period of licence granted (private hire vehicle driver’s licence only)  

 
Details of any sharing of your information within Ceredigion County Council   
We may share your information with the following service areas:  

• Transport Services and Social Services for the purposes of the protection of the 
public, including children and vulnerable adults  

• Council Tax and Housing Benefits for the purpose of the detection and 
prevention of fraud on the public purse 

 
Details of any sharing of your information with other organisations  
Your information may be shared where there is a legal basis for doing so with the 
following organisations:  
 

• Insurance Companies/Providers  
• Other Local Authorities, this may include sharing detailed information with other 

local authorities in relation to the reason for our refusal / revocation,  
• Your Doctor,   
• Other statutory authorities for example and not limited to Her Majesty’s 

Revenue and  
• Customs (HMRC), Cabinet Office, Home Office, Audit Commission, 

Department for Transport, Department for Work and Pensions, DVSA, 
Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS), Police or similar agency, where sharing 
your data is necessary.   

• Other public bodies or organisations using data matching techniques to collect 
taxes, detect and prevent fraud on the public purse or to assist in the 
investigation and detection of crime, the prosecution of offenders, protection of 
property and to maintain law and order, such as the National Fraud Initiative.  

• We may also be required to share your personal information with the Police, or 
similar agency, or another Council for the purposes of preventing and detecting 
fraud.   

• National Register of Taxi Licence Revocations and Refusals (NR3) for the 
purpose of sharing information regarding driver licence revocations and refusal 
of applications  

 
Requests for information 
All recorded information held by Ceredigion County Council may be subject to 
requests under the Freedom of Information Act 2000, Environmental Information 
Regulations 2004 and the Data Protection Act 1998.  

Page 13



 
If the information you provide is subject to such a request, where possible Ceredigion 
County Council will consult with you on its release. If you object to the release of your 
information we will withhold your information if the relevant legislation allows.  
 
How long will we retain your information 
 
Details of retention period 
How long Ceredigion County Council retains information is determined through 
statutory requirements or best practice. 
 
In accordance with the Council’s Data Retention Policy information is retained as 
follows:  

• Hackney Carriage/Private Hire Vehicle Driver – Licence relevant plus 3 years 
and medical certifications  

• Hackney Carriage/Private Hire Vehicle Driver (where licence refused or 
revoked) – up to 25 years 

• Hackney Carriage and Private Vehicles – Licence relevant plus 1 year  
• Private Hire Vehicle Operators – Licence relevant plus 5 years  

 
Your Rights (Inc Complaints Procedure)  
 
Your rights under the Data Protection  
 Data Protection gives data subjects (those who the information is about) a number of 
rights:  
 The right of subject access 

• The right to be informed   
• The right of rectification  
• The right to erasure  
• The right to restrict processing   
• The right to object  
• The right to data portability  
• Rights in relation to automated decision making and profiling.   

 
Further information on your rights is available from: www.ico.org.uk . 
 
To enact your rights please contact the service area detailed on the top of this form.  
 
Complaints Procedure 
 If you are unhappy with the way that Ceredigion County Council has handled your 
request / information, you have the right of complaint. Please contact the Service Area 
detailed at the top of this document outlining your issues.  
  
If you remain unhappy you also have a right of complaint to the Information 
Commissioner's Office.  Please follow this link for further information on the complaints 
process: 
Comments, Compliments and Complaints - Ceredigion County Council 
 
 
 

 

Page 14

http://www.ico.org.uk/
http://www.ico.org.uk/
https://www.ceredigion.gov.uk/your-council/comments-compliments-and-complaints/


Summary Privacy Notice  
 

 

How we will use your information  

The information you provide is used to process your application(s) for hackney 
carriage/private hire vehicle driver’s licence, Hackney Carriage or Private Hire Vehicle 
licence and Private Hire Vehicle Operator’s licence.  This information will be used to 
determine your or your vehicle’s suitability / continued suitability for the purposes of 
licensing.  
 
Your identity may form part of a publicly available committee report and / or a public 
register.  Your information will also be used for the purposes of statutory returns, 
compliance and customer service reviews.  It will also be used for the purpose of 
sharing information regarding driver licence revocations and refusal of applications on 
the National Register of Taxi Licence Revocations and Refusals (NR3).  We may 
obtain information about you from other sources and we may share your information 
with others where there is a legal basis for doing so.    
 
Further details on how long we will keep your information are provided in the link 
below.   
 
You have a number of rights in relation to the information including the right of access 
to information we hold about you and the right of complaint if you are unhappy with the 
way your information is being processed.  
 
For further information on how we process your information and your rights please 
click the following link: Privacy Notice - Ceredigion County Council 
 
https://cerinet.ceredigion.gov.uk/news/update-to-clic-closure-emails-to-be-sent-by-
default/  

Page 15

https://www.ceredigion.gov.uk/your-council/data-protection-freedom-of-information/data-protection/privacy-notice/
https://cerinet.ceredigion.gov.uk/news/update-to-clic-closure-emails-to-be-sent-by-default/
https://cerinet.ceredigion.gov.uk/news/update-to-clic-closure-emails-to-be-sent-by-default/


This page is intentionally left blank



CEREDIGION COUNTY COUNCIL 
  
Report to: Licensing Committee (Non-Statutory Committee) 
  
Date of meeting: 21 March 2024 
  
Title: General Update 
  
Purpose of the report: To advise members of the anticipated introduction of a 

mandatory licensing scheme of ‘special procedures’ in 
Wales. 

    
Background 
At present, if an individual wishes to practise acupuncture, tattooing, semipermanent 
skin colouring, cosmetic piercing or electrolysis they are required to apply to be 
registered with their local authority.  
 
The requirement to register is set out within Part 8 of the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982.  Under the 1982 Act, Welsh Government 
published model byelaws in respect of certain matters which govern safe hygiene 
practices in these types of procedures, but enforcement options under these provisions 
are limited, even in Local Authorities who have wholly adopted the model standards 
into Local by-laws. 
 
Currently, local authorities are only able to refuse an application for skin piercing 
registration under the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 if the 
applicant has already had a previous registration cancelled by the courts as a result of 
being found guilty of an offence (such as breaching a byelaw on hygiene). 
 
The adverse health effects associated with special procedures are well documented.  
Poor hygiene practices result in bloodborne viral infection, bacterial skin infections, 
some of which result in sepsis and allergic reactions, which is often the outcome of 
insufficient consultation before the procedure is performed. These human health 
impacts are currently exacerbated by the outdated and inadequate regulatory 
framework in place.  
 
The current legislative controls, i.e. Local Government Miscellaneous Provisions Act 
1982 Part VIII, which offers a non-mandatory registration scheme, has proved to be 
ineffective in ensuring a consistent approach by all practitioners in Wales to operating 
safe working practises, or infection, prevention and control procedures. 
 
New Special Procedures Licensing Scheme 
A new licensing scheme for 'Special Procedures' will be introduced by Welsh 
Government in October 2024 (precise date is yet to be confirmed), under Part 4 of the 
Public Health (Wales) Act 2017.   
 
Special Procedures include tattooing, semi-permanent skin colouring, cosmetic 
piercing, acupuncture, dry needling and electrolysis. 
 
The main requirements of this regime will include: 

Page 17

Agenda Item 5



• Practitioners must be licensed to carry out special procedures. It will be an 
offence to carry out special procedures without a licence; 

• Business premises or vehicles must be approved. It will be an offence for a 
practitioner to perform any procedures from premises or vehicles that are not 
approved  

• A full licence will last for three years, and a temporary licence will last for seven 
days (to allow for events and conferences); 

• Licence conditions will cover a practitioner's competence, the premises, the 
equipment and practices used, advice given before and after the special 
procedure and the records kept. 

 
Implication of New Mandatory Licensing Scheme 
The new regime will mean that local authorities are to be responsible for enforcing the 
licensing requirement of these practices and for keeping a register of special 
procedures licences issued by them. 
 
There will be greater powers to enforce this legislation than those currently in place, as 
well as the ability to revoke a licence and immediately stop unsafe practices. Fines will 
be unlimited where a prosecution is successful.  
 
A transitional period will be in place to allow special procedure practitioners and their 
premises to be assessed by Officers of Public Protection and moved to the new 
licensing scheme. The Council will be responsible for enforcing the licensing 
requirements and for keeping an up-to-date public register.  
 
There is an expectation from Welsh Government that much of this additional work will 
be absorbed into existing work programmes within Environmental Health and 
Licensing, which may impact other areas of service delivery.  The implementation of 
this new legislation will have an impact upon resources and require additional training 
of relevant staff within Public Protection. 
 
The Public Health (Wales) Act 2017 Part 4 – Special Procedures, will impact on 
approximately 22 businesses and 47 practitioners undertaking special procedures 
activities in Ceredigion with the implementation of a national mandatory licensing 
scheme.  
 
It is expected that when the legislation comes into force, that there will be no 
‘grandfather rights’ and there will be a requirement to hold both a premises and a 
personal licence. Licences will run for 3 years before requiring renewal and temporary 
7-day licences will also be available to accommodate events.  
 
Fees will be set on an all-Wales basis and funded on a cost recovery basis, charged 
after a licence or an approval certificate is granted and are intended to cover the cost 
of running the scheme, including support and advice to licence holders, enforcement, 
investigation of complaints, monitoring compliance and visits.  Welsh local authorities 
are working to finalise the proposed practitioner licence and premises/vehicle approval 
fees. 
 

Page 18



The Act allows for further legislation to amend the list of special procedures so that the 
legislation stays up to date and can include other emerging treatments or those of 
concern in the future. 
 
The aim of this legislation is to make those procedures safer for citizens who seek 
special procedures services, providing protection from possible harms to health, 
ensuring there is clear direction and support and also protection for practitioners 
providing such services; and create a robust licensing regime for Wales that will allow 
for consistency in enforcement. 
 
Consultation 
The next and final, consultation will give stakeholders the opportunity to review the draft 
regulations.  This final consultation was published on 12 February 2024 and will run 
until 8 April 2024. 
 
Implications for the Licensing Committee 
Welsh Government has indicated that it expects this regime to sit under licensing 
committee structures and have been formulating a consultation document for 
consideration which outlines their expectations in terms of governance. Officers will 
notify Members of this Committee when the consultation document is published. It is 
anticipated that contentious applications will be subject to sub-committee 
determination, and that there will be a right of appeal to a licensing sub-committee or 
Magistrates court for applicants refused a practitioner licence. 
 
It is also anticipated that Members will be required to undertake training to enable them 
to determine applications as they could be subject to legal challenge. Dr Sarah Jones, 
Senior Environmental Health Adviser who has been leading on the development of the 
licensing scheme for the Welsh Government will be providing committee members with 
an introduction to the scheme via Zoom during this committee meeting today. 
 
The role of the licensing committee in such licence application determinations is yet to 
be prescribed within specific Hearings Regulations and this committee will be informed 
of any developments in this respect as further direction from Welsh Government on this 
matter. 
 
When the situation becomes clearer in respect of the role of the licensing committees, 
the Monitoring Officer will review what mechanisms will be required to be adopted in to 
the Council’s constitution, as well as determining delegated powers required for 
officers. 
 
  
Recommendation(s): That Members note and comment on this 

report. 
 

Reason for recommendation To advise elected Members of the anticipated 
introduction in 2024 of this mandatory 
licensing scheme which will fall within the 
remit of Public Protection. 
 

Page 19



Policy Framework: The statutory functions delivered by Public 
Protection in relation to this new licensing 
scheme is a fundamental element of Public 
Protection policy framework. 
 

Corporate Priorities • Boosting the economy, supporting 
businesses and enabling employment 

 
Finance and procurement 
implications: 
 

Within budget 

Service Area Policy, Performance and Public Protection 
  
Statutory Powers: 
 
 

Local Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) act 1976 
 

Background Papers  None 
  
Corporate Lead Officer: Alun Williams (Policy, Performance and 

Public Protection) 
 

Reporting Officer: Anne-Louise Davies (Trading Standards & 
Licensing Manager). 
 

Date: 1 March 2024 
 
 

Page 20


	Agenda
	3 Confirm the Minutes of the Meeting held on 05 October 2023 and consider any matters arising from the Minutes
	4 General Update
	Summary Privacy Notice

	5 General Update - anticipated introduction of a mandatory licensing scheme of 'special procedures' in Wales.

